FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington SUP7/3/1/2019 4:51 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/1/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

COA NO. 50664-5-II

97505-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DARIN R. VANCE

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Scott Collier, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys For Appellant/Petitioner

David T. McDonald, WSBA #18446 David T. McDonald, P.C. 833 SW 11th Avenue, Suite 625 Portland, OR 97205 (503) 226-0188

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Darin R. Vance, the Respondent below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Darin R. Vance seeks review of the Court of Appeals Opinion that:

1) implicitly rejected this Court's decisions in *Perrone¹* and *Besola²*, explicitly rejected the analysis in *McKee³* and erroneously held that the warrant satisfied the particularity requirement and 2) that failed to disavow the application of the Silver Platter Doctrine. A copy of the opinion is attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE #1

Is the warrant sufficiently particular to satisfy the Article I, § 7 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution when the warrant only uses the title of the statute to describe what is to be sought but does not include any reference to any definition of "sexually explicit conduct" and failed to reference RCW 9.68A.011(4)⁴.

¹ 119 Wash.2d 538, 834 P.2d 611 (1992)

² 184 Wash.2d 605, 359 P.3d 799 (2015)

³ 3 Wash.App.2d 11, 413 P.3d 1049 (2018)

⁴ The legislature amended RCW 9.68A.011 in 2010 and what was *formerly* .011(3) is now .011(4). *Martinez* refers to .011(3) and the *Vance* briefs to .011(4). This brief presumes that the *Martinez* warrant referred to the statute prior to the amendment.

ISSUE #2

Does the application of the Silver Platter Doctrine violate Washington's citizens' rights under Article I, §7 where evidence lawfully obtained by foreign agents under foreign law is admissible in Washington criminal proceedings when the same searches and seizures by state authorities would violate the Article I, § 7 or, in the alternative, did the antecedent mutual planning, joint operations, cooperative investigations, or mutual assistance in this case bring all of the agents under color of state law?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2010, FBI Agent Burney went online using an enhanced Lime Wire software program that is only available to law enforcement. CP 126, Exh # 7 at p 25. Using that non-public software, he observed a specific IP address associated with that computer. VRP at pp 66-75. He then went to a public website which disclosed the ISP (Comcast) for that IP address, sent a federal administrative subpoena to Comcast by fax and obtained the subscriber information for that IP address. CP 126 Exhibit 7 at p 67. The Comcast documents faxed to Agent Burney identified Petitioner as the subscriber. VRP at p 47 and CP 33 at pp 199-205. Agent Burney forwarded the information he obtained during his search of the Petitioner's Computer, his seizure of information from the computer and the subscriber information to Seattle FBI who, in turn, forwarded the information to Senior Investigator Maggie Holbrook of the Clark County Digital Evidence Crime Unit (DECU). VRP at 47 and CP 33 at p 199-205 and 126 Exhibit 7.

2 PETITION FOR REVIEW

DECU is a joint task force that includes local, state and federal law enforcement agents and is part of wide national and international cooperative effort to investigate and prosecute persons involved in sexual exploitation of children. CP 126 at Exhibits 1-12.

DECU, including a Homeland Security agent, then executed a warrant at Petitioner's home, seized many electronic storage devices and conducted a forensic examination of those devices. CP 170 at p 4. The warrant authorized a search for "evidence of the crime(s) of: RCW 9.68A.050, dealing in depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct and RCW 9.68A.070, possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct.⁵" Clerk's Papers (CP) at 3. The warrant did not contain any language defining "sexually explicit conduct" and did not reference RCW 9.68A.011(4)⁶. The warrant then set forth a list of items to be seized, including a list electronic devices and media:

capable of being used to commit or further the crimes outlined above, or to create, access, or store the types of evidence, contraband, fruits, or instrumentalities of such crimes. CP at 4.

The list failed to include definition of "sexually explicit conduct.

The warrant also set forth a laundry list of information necessary to

⁵ The warrant simply used the title of RCW 9.68A.070 "Possession of depictions of a minor engaged sexually explicit conduct"

⁶ (4) Provides: "Sexually explicit conduct" means actual or simulated: (a) Sexual intercourse, including genital-genital, oral-genital, anal-genital, or oral-anal, whether between persons of the same or opposite sex or between humans and animals; (b) Penetration of the vagina or rectum by any object; (c) Masturbation; (d) Sadomasochistic abuse; (e) Defecation or urination for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer; (f) Depiction of the genitals or unclothed pubic or rectal areas of any minor, or the unclothed breast of a female minor, for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer. For the purposes of this subsection (4)(f), it is not necessary that the minor know that he or she is participating in the described conduct, or any aspect of it; and (g)

operate and access those devices and data. This list concluded with authorization to transfer any and/or all seized items to the Cybercrime Unit:

[F]or the examination, analysis, and recovery of data from any seized items to include...that are related to the production, creation, collection, trade, sale, distribution, or retention of files depicting minors engaged in sexually explicit acts/child pornography. CP at 6.

The warrant fails to reference any definition of "sexually explicit acts" or "child pornography". On November 30, 2016, the trial court denied the Petitioner's Motion To Suppress and held that the Silver Platter Doctrine applied because there was insufficient collaboration between the state and federal officers. VRP at pp 58-66. The trial court did not rule on whether, if the Silver Platter doctrine did not apply, the evidence should be suppressed under Article I, 7 of the Washington Constitution. VRP at pp 58-66. The State filed an Amended Information charging the Petitioner with ten counts of Possession and the Court found Petitioner guilty of all ten counts.

V. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should grant review because Court of Appeals decision is in direct conflict with this Court's decisions in *Perrone* and *Besola* and is in conflict with at least one published decision of the Court of Appeals

in *McKee*⁷. The Court of Appeals Opinion also noted a potential split between the Divisions on this issue as it held that "to the extent that *McKee* contradicts our conclusion, we disagree with *McKee*". Thus, the Opinion created a conflict between the Divisions that needs to be resolved. *See State v. Vance*, _ Wash. App. 2d _, 2019 WL 2754212 at 5 (2019)(Slip Opinion at p 9).

A. THE WARRANT PERMITTING THE SEIZURE OF ANY COMPUTER, ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT OR DIGITAL STORAGE DEVICE AND THE SEARCHES OF ALL OF THOSE DEVICES WAS NOT SUFFICIENTLY PARTICULAR TO SATISFY THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OR ARTICLE I, § 7 OF THE WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION AND THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS IS IN CONFLICT WITH PRIOR SUPREME COURT DECISIONS AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS.

The Court of Appeals decision that the warrant in this case was legally and factually distinguishable from the warrants in *Perrone*, *Besola and McKee* is erroneous for three major reasons: 1) the warrant in this case suffers from the same, or strikingly similar, infirmities as the warrants in *Perrone*, *Besola* and *McKee*, 2) the warrant in this case does not contain the definitional language that saved the warrants in *Martinez*⁸ and *Friedrich*⁹ and 3) the Court of Appeals wrongly interpreted the

⁷ Vance relied upon *Perrone, Besola, McKee* because all three of those cases are directly analogous to the warrant in this case. In addition, Vance relied on the specific differences in the warrants in *Martinez* and *Friedrich* both of which were upheld because they contained specific references to specific definitions, definitions that were absent from the warrants in *Perrone, Besola, McKee* and this case. *See* Appellants Reply to Respondent's Opening Brief at pp 21-25. The *Fredrich* opinion is the most recent case and accurately summarized the facts and holdings of *Perrone, Besola* and *McKee*. *See State v. Friedrich*, 4 Wn.App.2d 945, 961, 425 P.3d 518 (Div. 3 2018)

⁸ State v. Martinez, 408 P.3d 721, 729 (Wash. Ct. App.), review denied, 190 Wash. 2d 1028, 421 P.3d 458 (2018).

⁹ The *Friedrich* warrant also used the statutory title. *Id* at 961.

holdings of *Besola* and *Martinez* and erroneously relied on that flawed interpretation to uphold the warrant.

The Court of Appeals erred by failing to correctly apply Supreme Court precedent in this matter. There is no discernible legal or factual difference between the warrants in *Perrone*, *Besola*, *McKee* and the warrant in the instant case. On the other hand, the similarities are striking.

First, each of the four warrants deals with a First Amendment issue and therefore, a "greater degree of particularity is required". Friedrich, 425 P.3d 518, 527 quoting Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476, 485, 85 S.Ct. 506, 13 L.Ed. 2d 431 (1965)("the most scrupulous exactitude" applies "when the 'things [to be seized]' are books, and the basis for their seizure is the ideas which they contain."); See Perrone, 119 Wash.2d at 547-48, 834 P.2d 611(citing the passage from Stanford v. Texas)(emphasis in original).

Second, all of the four warrants only refer to the generic term "child pornography"¹⁰, the statutory title of the crime with a reference to the RCW #¹¹, or a hybrid¹². The *Perrone, Besola and McKee* Courts all held that using only the title of the statute and/or the term "child"

¹⁰ Perrone, supra at 549-550 (warrant referred to searches for "child pornography") and Vance 2019 WL 275421 at 2, Slip Op. at 3 (warrant referred to fact that DECU could search for "files depicting minors engaged in sexually explicit acts/child pornography").

¹¹ McKee, supra at 16 (warrant sought items for the crimes of "Sexual Exploitation of a Minor RCW 9.68A.040, Dealing in depictions of minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct RCW 9.68A.050" and Vance, 2019 WL 275421 at 2 ("RCW 9.68A.050 Dealing in depictions of minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct and RCW 9.68A.070 Possession of depictions of minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct"

¹² Besola, supra at 608 ("Child Pornography 9.68A.070"). At the time of the Besola warrant, the title of RCW 9.68A.070 was "Possession of depictions of minor engaged in sexually explicit

pornography" was insufficient to satisfy the particularity requirement. Perrone, supra at 552-554; Besola, supra at 614; McKee, supra at 26-27; Also see Friedrich, supra at 960-961 (highlighting same proposition).

Third, none of the four warrants include any definitions or language (or reference the definition of "sexually explicit conduct" as defined by RCW 9.68A.011) that would provide "law enforcement with an objective standard to determine what should be seized"¹³. See generally Perrone, supra at 553; Besola, supra at 614 and McKee, supra at 1058-59 (The language of the search warrant left to the discretion of the police what to seize). Both *Perrone* and *Besola* found the inclusion of some definitional sections, and specifically a reference to 9.68A.011, may have saved those warrants from being found unconstitutional. Besola, 184 Wash.2d at 614-615. In response to that dicta, the Martinez Court and the Friedrich Court upheld the warrants explicitly because the warrants both included a reference to the definitional section of the statute (9.96A.011). The Martinez Court held that the warrant would **not** have satisfied Besola if it had not been for the specific reference to RCW 9.68.011(3):

But the warrant here (*Martinez* warrant) does more than simply cite to the statute, it uses the language "sexually explicit conduct as defined in RCW 9.68A.011(3)."22 This language provides law enforcement with an objective standard to determine what should be seized.

Martinez, supra at 66 (emphasis supplied)

The *Friedrich* Court also focused on the fact that the *Perrone* and *Besola* warrants were not sufficiently particular because those warrants lacked references to what constitutes "child pornography" and "sexually explicit conduct":

Use of the unqualified term¹⁴ proved fatal to the search warrant at issue in *Perrone*, in which the warrant affidavit repeatedly used the term to describe items to be seized, and our Supreme Court held that the term was "not sufficiently particular to satisfy the Fourth Amendment." 119 Wash.2d at 553, 834 P.2d 611. The court reasoned that authorizing law enforcement to seize anything it thinks constitutes "child pornography" allows too much discretion and is not "scrupulous exactitude." Id (internal quotation marks omitted). The court [Perrone] suggested that a warrant affiant could avoid the particularity problem by using statutory definitions found in RCW 9.68A.011.415 Id. at 553-54, 834 P.2d 611. More recently, the Court [Besola] reiterated that if a search warrant limiting items to be seized "used the language of RCW 9.68A.011 to describe materials sought, the warrant would likely be sufficiently particular," but that merely identifying the crime under investigation as a violation of RCW 9.68A.070 did not satisfy the particularity requirement. State v. Besola, 184 Wash.2d 605, 614, 359 P.3d 799 (2015).

Friedrich, 4 Wash. App. at 961 (emphasis supplied).

In addition, the Court of Appeals erroneously misconstrued the *Martinez* and *Besola* holdings when it confused the use of "RCW 9.68A.070 Possession of depictions of a minor engaged in *sexually explicit conduct*" in the *Vance* warrant, with the reference in the *Martinez* warrant to the definitional statute, RCW 9.68A.011(3). *Vance, supra,* 2019 WL 2754212 at 4. The *Martinez* Court held that the reference to the

¹⁴ The "unqualified term" was "child pornography".

¹⁵ Footnote # 4 in this quote is as follows: "Chapter 9.68A RCW covers sexual exploitation of children, and section 9.68A.011 is its definitions provision.". *Friedrich*, 4 Wash. App. at fn 4.

9.68A.011 (definitional statute) saved the warrant, <u>not</u> the reference to "sexually explicit conduct" in the RCW title of the crime. *Martinez*, 2 Wash. App. 2nd at 65-66.

Thus the *Vance* warrant, like the warrants in *Perrone*, *Besola and McKee*, made no such reference to the definitional statute, which are present in *Martinez* and *Friedrich* and held to be crucial to a finding of particularity. As was missing from the warrants in *Perrone*, *Besola* and *McKee*, but present in the warrants in *Martinez* and Friedrich¹⁶, this warrant does not contain any reference to 9.68A.011.

The difference between Courts striking the warrants in *Perrone* and *Besola*, and *McKee*, and Courts upholding the warrants in *Martinez* and *Friedrich*, is the inclusion of a specific reference in the warrants to a legal definition (9.68A.011 and 18 USC §2256) in the warrants. The Courts struck down the warrants that did not reference specific definitions of "child pornography" and "sexually explicit conduct" because without those definitions, the warrants "left too much discretion" to the officer to decide what to seize.

In this case, the description is too general under these circumstances as, like in *Besola*, the warrant could easily have been made more particular if the language in the statute had been used to describe the materials sought. *See Besola*, 184 at 612–13. Moreover, in this case, like

¹⁶ The *Friedrich* warrant not only referred to RCW 9.68A.011 but also referred to 18 USC 2256, which is the federal equivalent of RCW 9.68A.011(4) (see fn 15, infra for definitions found in 18 USC 2256). *Friedrich*, supra at 961.

Besola and McKee, merely having the title of the statute at the top of the warrant does not save the warrant. In fact, in this case, under (i), the warrant states that members of DECU are authorized to search all seized items for a laundry list of items "depicting minors engaged in sexually explicit acts/child pornography" and fails to define either of those terms. Thus the warrant in this case has the same constitutional infirmities as in Perrone, Besola and McKee.

Without any definitional reference, the mere placement of the statutory title of the alleged crime at the top of the warrant is insufficient to satisfy the particularity requirement. *Besola*, 184 Wash.2d at 614 ("The name of the felony at the top of the warrant does not modify or limit the list of items that can be seized via the warrant"). The *Vance* warrant, unlike the *Martinez* and *Friedrich* warrants, does not reference or include any specific definitions of "child pornography" and "sexually explicit conduct" and therefore it leaves too much discretion to the seizing officers.

Therefore, under the holdings of *Perrone*, *Besola* and *McKee*, the warrant in this case fails to meet the constitutional particularity standard for warrants and all evidence seized pursuant to that warrant should have been suppressed by the Trial Court.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE THE CONTINUED USE AND APPLICATION OF THE SILVER PLATTER DOCTRINE IS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER ARTICLE I § 7 OF THE CONSTITUTION AND ITS USE AND APPLICATION ARE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

Article I, § 7 clearly grants Washingtonians broader protections than the Federal 4th Amendment and other equivalent state constitutional provisions. The Silver Platter Doctrine eviscerates those broader protections granted by Article I, § 7 by allowing foreign agents to intrude upon, and unlawfully invade, a Washington citizen's right to privacy, provide the tainted evidence seized in violation of Article I, § 7 to Washington agents who, in turn, provide the seized evidence to prosecutors to use against that Washington citizen in a Washington Court. Recently, this Court stated:

In order to effectuate the purposes of stare decisis, this court will reject its prior holdings only upon "a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful." *Id.* There are also "relatively rare' occasions when a court should eschew prior precedent in deference to intervening authority" where "the legal underpinnings of our precedent have changed or disappeared altogether."

State v. Otton, 185 Wash. 2d 673, 678, 374 P.3d 1108, 1110 (2016)(internal citations omitted).

In *State v. Brown*, ¹⁷ this Court adopted the two-part test enunciated in *State v. Mollica*¹⁸ for analyzing the Silver Platter Doctrine. The *Brown* Court did so without conducting an analysis as to whether or not the doctrine itself violated Article I, § 7 but instead simply adopted the two part test enunciated in *Mollica. Brown, supra* at 576-577.

¹⁷ 132 Wash. 2d 529, 586–87, 940 P.2d 546, 576–77 (1997), as amended (Aug. 13, 1997). ¹⁸ 114 N.J. 329 554 A.2d 1315 (1989).

In these days of incessant, almost incestuous, multi-jurisdictional cooperation, the Silver Platter Doctrine leads to an absurd result to wit: foreign agents can regularly seize evidence in a manner that does not comport with Article I, § 7, give that evidence over to Washington authorities, and allow the Washington authorities to use it as a weapon against a citizen in a criminal prosecution. This absurd result is permissible even though the same seized evidence would be excluded if Washington authorities had obtained the evidence in the exact same intrusive manner as the foreign agents.

Each time a Washington Court sanctions the admissibility of evidence seized by a non-Washington law enforcement agent in contravention of the requirements of Article I, § 7, the Court sanctions a violation of that Washington citizen's right to privacy under Article I, § 7. Thus, by applying the Silver Platter Doctrine, Washington's judiciary is sanctioning the subjugation of the enumerated constitutional rights to privacy held by Washingtonians to the less protective legal standards of other jurisdictions.

Upholding the Silver Platter Doctrine fails to protect the integrity of the legal principles embedded in Article I, § 7 by allowing tainted evidence into Washington courtrooms in contravention of this Court's precedent that states "[T]he important place of the right to privacy in Const. art. 1, § 7seems to us to require that whenever the right is unreasonably violated, the remedy [exclusion] *must* follow". *State v.*

Boland, 115 Wash.2d 571, 582, 800 P.2d 1112 (1990 quoting State v. White, 97 Wash.2d 92,110, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982) (emphasis in original). Therefore, this Court should join the many other jurisdictions that have rejected the Silver Platter doctrine, no longer allow that doctrine to be judicially sanctioned by our Courts.

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