FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/4/2019 3:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97505-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

DARIN RICHARD VANCE, Petitioner

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.11-1-00704-9

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL A. ROGERS, WSBA #37878 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (564) 397-2261

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

explicit conduct in ways that the warrants in *Perrone, supra*, *Besola, supra*, and *McKee, supra*, did not.

Vance's claim that the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent overlooks the fact that the language in the search warrant in this case differs significantly from the language involved in Perrone, supra, Besola, supra, and McKee, supra. When particularity of the search warrant is at issue, the language of the search warrant matters. When a search warrant includes language that differs from the problematic language seen in other cases, it makes sense that the outcome of the Court's analysis on the constitutionality of the search warrant would be different. That is what occurred here. The language of the search warrant in Vance's case does not suffer from the same maladies as did the warrants in Perrone, supra, Besola, supra, and McKee, supra. Therefore, the outcome was different, and appropriately so. The search warrant in this case was sufficiently particular and was therefore constitutional. The Court of Appeals appropriately so found; this Court should therefore deny review.

///

///

///

///

II. This Court should not grant review of the "Silver Platter" issue as the doctrine has not been shown to be incorrect or harmful and the doctrine of stare decisis requires this Court uphold the doctrine's applicability.

Vance argues this Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision regarding the "Silver Platter Doctrine" pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4), claiming it involves a significant question of law under the State constitution and that it involves an issue of substantial public interest. The doctrine of stare decisis guides this Court's decision here.

Our State has upheld the use of the "Silver Platter Doctrine" and Vance has not shown that the cases applying it are incorrect and harmful.

Accordingly, this Court should deny review of an issue that has long been decided.

Before this Court will reconsider an established rule of law, there must be a clear showing that the rule is incorrect and harmful. *State v. Gregory*, 192 Wn.2d 1, 34, 427 P.3d 621 (2018) (citing *State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 863, 248 P.3d 494 (2011) (citing *In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970))). This is the doctrine of stare decisis. *Id.* This Court will not easily abandon established precedent, especially not based on "distinguishable, nonbinding authority." *State v. Davis*, 175 Wn.2d 287, 337, 290 P.3d 43 (2012). An established rule of law must be "harmful" not just to one defendant, but to

the public interest. *Barber*, 170 Wn.2d at 865. Vance fails to show that the use of the "Silver Platter Doctrine" is either incorrect or harmful.

The trial court below denied Vance's motion to dismiss based on the "Silver Platter Doctrine," finding the evidence obtained by a federal agent during his investigation of Vance was admissible as the federal agent was not an agent of the state, was not acting in cooperation with the state during his investigation, and had followed federal law. CP 1429-35. The Court of Appeals upheld the use of the Silver Platter Doctrine and affirmed the trial court's ruling. *Vance*, slip op. at 11-14.

The "Silver Platter Doctrine" allows evidence that was lawfully obtained under the laws of another jurisdiction to be admitted in courts in Washington, even if the manner of discovery of the evidence, had it occurred in Washington, would have violated Washington law. *State v. Mezquia*, 129 Wn.App. 118, 132, 118 P.3d 378 (2005). To be admissible under this doctrine, the evidence must have been: 1) lawfully obtained by the foreign jurisdiction; and 2) the Washington State officers must not have acted as agents or have cooperated or assisted the foreign jurisdiction. *Id.*

The evidence obtained in Vance's case was not obtained unconstitutionally. It was obtained by a federal agent, working outside the State of Washington, without any input, aid, assistance, or cooperation

from Washington State authorities, and pursuant to federal law. In this circumstance therefore, the trial court was not faced with the question of whether to exclude evidence that was obtained unconstitutionally, but rather was tasked with determining what evidence was appropriate for the court to admit under established and appropriate rules of law. The trial court did just that and did not err in its holding.

Vance argues this Court should abolish the "Silver Platter Doctrine" as other courts have, including federal courts. However, this Court recognized the continued use of the "Silver Platter Doctrine" by federal courts in *State v. Fowler*, 157 Wn.2d 387, 396 n. 5, 139 P.3d 342 (2006). This Court recognized that

[t] principles of the doctrine (although no longer explicitly called the silver platter doctrine) still are applied in federal court, such as when evidence is obtained out of the country, in violation of the Fourth Amendment, which does not govern foreign officials' conduct. See, e.g., Stonehill v. United States, 405 F.2d 738 (9th Cir. 1968) (evidence obtained in the Philippines in violation of the Fourth Amendment by foreign agents was admissible in federal court when the federal officers did not undertake or unlawfully participate in the unconstitutional search and seizure).

Fowler, 157 Wn.2d at 396 n. 5. The way the federal government still recognizes this doctrine is the same way this State continues to use the doctrine. When foreign officials, such as federal agents, conduct a lawful investigation and obtain evidence and then hand that evidence over to state

agents within our state, that evidence is admissible. This evidence is admissible just as when foreign officials to the U.S. government conduct their own separate investigation outside U.S. soil and then hand that evidence over to the U.S. government. *See Stonehill, supra*. In this case, Agent Burney was a foreign agent, acting outside Washington soil, without any aid, cooperation, or input from Washington state officials. Agent Burney's actions were entirely lawful under the U.S. constitution and therefore no laws were broken or rights violated by his actions. To deprive the state of use of the evidence obtained by this investigation would serve no legitimate interest.

The evidence was properly admitted under the "Silver Platter Doctrine." To be admissible under this doctrine, the evidence must have been: 1) lawfully obtained by the foreign jurisdiction; and 2) the Washington State officers must not have acted as agents or have cooperated or assisted the foreign jurisdiction. *Mezquia*, 129 Wn.App. at 132.

To determine whether FBI agent Burney was acting as an "agent" for Washington State officers, or whether Agent Burney's actions were part of a joint investigation he conducted along with Washington State officers, it is necessary to consider the specific facts involved in this case, and look to examples from our Courts on when contact, exchange of

information, and cooperation between state and foreign jurisdictions results in an agency relationship. In State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), the Washington Supreme Court considered whether a defendant's recorded statement to police in California was properly admitted at his criminal trial in Washington, when the recording would not have been admissible had it been done in Washington. There, the defendant had been arrested in California on suspicion of a violent sex offense, assault, and robbery, and while he was speaking with California officers, he confessed to murdering a woman in King County. Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 546-48. Over two days, the defendant had three total conversations with California police officers; all three were recorded without the defendant's knowledge or consent. Id. at 548. During the first interview, the defendant told the California officers to tell King County police to come down and talk with him. Id. at 588. After the first interview, California police contacted King County officers and informed them of what the defendant had told them. *Id.* at 589. King County police located the vehicle the defendant had described to California police and found the victim's dead body in the trunk. *Id.* After this, King County police asked the California officers to get a statement from Brown. Id. The California officers told Brown about King County's request and he said he

was willing to cooperate, and then gave the confession, the recording of which was admitted at trial. *Id*.

On review, this Court considered whether the evidence was lawfully obtained by California officers and whether that allowed admission of the recording at trial despite it not having been obtained in accordance with Washington law. Id. at 585. The Court discussed that the "key element of the silver platter doctrine requires that the officers of the federal jurisdiction not act as agents of the forum state jurisdiction nor under color of state law." Id. at 587 (quoting State v. Gwinner, 59 Wn.App.119, 125, 796 P.2d 728 (1990), rev. denied, 117 Wn.2d 1004, 815 P.2d 266 (1991)). The Court adopted the Gwinner Court's analysis of factors to consider in determining whether federal agents were acting as agents of the Washington state officers. *Id.* Those factors include: "antecedent mutual planning, joint operations, cooperative investigations, or mutual assistance between federal and state officers...." Id. (quoting Gwinner, 59 Wn.App. at 125). However, "mere contact, awareness of ongoing investigations or the exchange of information may not transmute the relationship into one of agency." Id. (quoting Gwinner, 59 Wn.App. at 125). In applying those factors, this Court found that the California police were merely acting with the "cooperation and assistance" of King County officers, and therefore did not have an agency relationship with King

County. *Id.* at 589. Important to this conclusion was the Court's finding that King County only asked California officers to get a statement from Brown and they did not tell the California officers what to ask or how to conduct the interview. *Id.* Therefore, the California officers were working independently when they obtained Brown's confession. *Id.* Additionally, the Supreme Court noted that there would be no state interest advanced by the suppression of the recorded statement obtained by the California officers as no state actors violated his privacy interests. *Id.* at 590.

Gwinner, supra, presents a case in the Court of Appeals analyzed whether evidence obtained by a foreign jurisdiction was admissible in a defendant's trial. There, a Washington state officer gave federal agents information about the defendant, who was suspected of trafficking cocaine. Gwinner, 59 Wn.App. at 121. The Washington officer told an agent with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA)'s task force that an informant had told him that Gwinner would be trafficking cocaine through Sea-Tac airport, that he would be arriving on a certain date and time, that he would have four baggies of cocaine, and that he drove a blue Nissan truck with California license plates. Id. DEA agents found Gwinner's truck in the parking garage at the airport based on the information from the Washington officer. Id. DEA agents then followed Gwinner from the arrival gate out to the parking garage, and then

approached him and asked to talk to him. *Id*. Gwinner agreed to a search of his bag in which the agents found cocaine. *Id*. Upon his arrest, the agents searched his truck during an inventory search pursuant to federal law. *Id*.

The Court in *Gwinner* found the search of the vehicle to be lawful under federal law, but noted it did not conform to Washington state law. Id. at 123-34. In addressing whether the evidence obtained by the DEA agents' search of Gwinner's vehicle was properly admitted into evidence at Gwinner's state criminal trial, the Court relied on the "Silver Platter Doctrine," noting that state laws do not control federal action, and that no state interests would be advanced by "disallow[ing] the transfer of evidence from federal to state authorities when the evidence was lawfully obtained by the former." Id. at 125 (citing State v. Mollica, 114 N.J. 329, 554 A.2d 1315 (1989)). Noting that the key element to a proper transfer of evidence from federal agents to State agents was that the federal agents not have acted as agents of Washington State, the Court considered whether the Washington officer's telephone call sharing information about Gwinner worked to make the DEA agents of Washington State. *Id.* at 125-26. The Court concluded that there was no agency relationship between the state and federal officers and the federal officers were not acting as agents of Washington State. Id. The Court again noted that no legitimate

state interest in protecting privacy rights would be advanced by the suppression of the evidence obtained by federal agents. *Id*.

In Vance's case, FBI Agent Burney was not working as an agent of Washington State or under the color of state law when he conducted his investigation. From the evidence it is clear that the FBI worked wholly independently from the Vancouver Police Department and DECU investigators in this case. CP 256-58; RP 52-55. No state actors were even aware of Agent Burney's investigation or actions in the case until Agent Burney forwarded the information to them. CP 256-58; RP 52-55. This case falls squarely under the reasoning and holding in *Brown, supra* and *Gwinner, supra*.

Vance argues that DECU's existence as an inter-agency law enforcement unit, and its participation in nation-wide law enforcement groups, acts to create an agency relationship between DECU and the FBI. Even though the Vancouver Police Department and the Clark County Sheriff's Office are part of nation-wide groups that share information regarding depictions of minors crimes, they did not have an agency relationship with the FBI, there was no antecedent mutual planning or joint investigation of Vance, and no assistance was given to Agent Burney in this investigation from Washington officers. CP 256-58; RP 52-55. If being members of the same nation-wide associations or sharing of

information on crimes with other jurisdictions created an agency relationship or equaled mutual planning, assistance, or joint investigation, then all law enforcement in our country would be agents of one another and the "Silver Platter Doctrine" would be rendered inoperable. All law enforcement share information on those convicted of crimes, and of details of crimes themselves, through national databases. Simply sharing information or having a similar mission to combat crime does not make two jurisdictions' officers partners. Vance attempts to turn the nationwide, and in fact, world-wide effort to identify and prosecute those who create, possess, and distribute depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct into a nefarious, inter-agency conspiracy to thwart defendants' privacy rights. But there was simply no evidence of any preplanned choice to use Agent Burney's federal authority to obtain information in violation of Vance's privacy rights. Just as in *Brown*, supra, no state interest would have been advanced by the suppression of the evidence obtained from Agent Burney that was then used by state actors to obtain a search warrant of the defendant's house. There was no misconduct of state officers to punish in an attempt to prevent recurrence, and Agent Burney violated no law in his investigation, conducted from another state during his routine job duties as an agent for the FBI. The "Silver Platter Doctrine" clearly applies to Vance's case and the trial court

properly found that the evidence was admissible as there was no state action that worked to violate Vance's privacy rights. There is no basis for this Court to grant review of this issue and Vance's petition for review should be denied.

CONCLUSION

Vance's petition for review should be denied. The Court of Appeals' decision regarding the search warrant is not in conflict with Supreme Court precedent, nor is it in conflict with precedent from other divisions of the Court of Appeals. Further, the "Silver Platter Doctrine" is applicable to this case and Vance has not shown that its use is incorrect or harmful and it should not be revisited. Accordingly, Vance's petition for review should be denied.